# CITY OF OAKLAND BUDGET ADVISORY COMMISSION

Notice is hereby given that a meeting of the City of Oakland Budget Advisory Commission (BAC) is scheduled for **Wednesday**, **September 8**, **2021** at **6**:00 **PM**.

Pursuant to the Governor's Executive Order N-29-20, all members of the Budget Advisory Commission will join the meeting via phone/video conference and no teleconference locations are required.

#### **Commission Members:**

Jay Ashford, Ken Benson, Carrie Crespo-Dixon, Ed Gerber,
Margaret Grimsley, Joseph Macaluso, John McKenna, Kasheica McKinney, Caitlin
Prendiville, Sarah Price, Brenda Roberts, Michael Silk, Marchon Tatmon,
F/M Cmte. #1 – Vacant, D3 - Vacant

## City's Representative(s):

Ecaterina Burton, Tiffany Kirkpatrick & Jose Segura- Finance Department

### **Meeting Agenda:**

- 1. Administrative Matters [5 minutes]
  - Welcome & Attendance
- 2. Thank you, Jose! [5 minutes] Commission
- 3. Review of Ad-Hoc Committee's draft response report to the 2021 Budget Process. [50 minutes] Chair, Commission
- 4. Review of City Auditor's June Report Presentation to BAC at a Future Meeting? [5 minutes] Chair, Commission
- 5. Open Forum [5 minutes]
- 6. Adjournment

CITY OF OAKLAND BUDGET ADVISORY COMMISSION Hi there,

You are invited to a Zoom webinar.

When: Sep 8, 2021 06:00 PM Pacific Time (US and Canada)

Every month on the Second Wed, until Dec 8, 2021, 4 occurrence(s)

Sep 8, 2021 06:00 PM Oct 13, 2021 06:00 PM Nov 10, 2021 06:00 PM Dec 8, 2021 06:00 PM

Please download and import the following iCalendar (.ics) files to your calendar system.

Monthly: https://us06web.zoom.us/webinar/tZwvc-

GppjsrGdeDzVJweJ27RISzRboh3 T /ics?icsToken=98tyKuGgrD8iG9yVsRqERpw-AlgWevxiGJcjadYuAXTKTdWSFGhBMtxKIB9H9CD

Topic: Meeting of the City of Oakland Budget Advisory Commission (BAC)

Please click the link below to join the webinar:

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/88248180133

Or One tap mobile:

US: +16699006833,,88248180133# or +13462487799,,88248180133#

Or Telephone:

Dial(for higher quality, dial a number based on your current location):

US: +1 669 900 6833 or +1 346 248 7799 or +1 253 215 8782 or +1 929 205 6099 or +1 301 715 8592 or +1 312 626 6799

Webinar ID: 882 4818 0133

International numbers available: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kb7h2BZS87

# City of Oakland Budget Advisory Commission

# Report on the City of Oakland's Biennial 2021-23 Budget Cycle

# September, 2021

Pursuant to the Consolidated Fiscal Policy ("CFP") (13279 C.M.S.), the Budget Advisory Commission ("BAC" or "Commission") submits this Report on the City of Oakland's Biennial 2021-23 Budget Cycle. The Report was approved by the BAC at a meeting held on Sept. 8th, 2021.

### **Executive Summary**

This report contains the BAC's comments and recommendations related to the 2021-23 budget.

With regard to process, the CFP has been in use now for four budget cycles, and the BAC believes that it has generally worked to improve transparency and increase the predictability and reliability of the budget process for the public. Based on our observations, however, and in accordance with the BAC's mandate to look for "opportunities for improving the process in future years," now is a good time to make adjustments and improvements to the process and to the policies that guide the development and adoption of the biennial budget.

Following is a summary of our recommendations, some of which are new, and some of which are carried forward from the BAC's September 2019 and June 2021 report to the Mayor and Council. A more detailed discussion of each recommendation follows this summary.

- 1. **Strengthening of Vital Services Stabilization Fund.** (VSSF) and setting a multi-year calendar to achieve full funding as recommended in our report of Sept. 25, 2019. (See Section 3)
- 2. Avoiding Assuming County Responsibility Services: The need to avoid assuming services that are a responsibility of Alameda County. (See Section 3)

- 3. One Time Revenues Funding on Going Programs: Careful management of the extensive use of one-time funds which have been used extensively to fund ongoing programs. (See Section 3)
- 4. **Funding of Police Overtime**: Police overtime is both a tool for budget control and a source of concern. Simply cutting budgeted OPD overtime will not solve the issue if Oakland continues to request the same or a higher level of services from the OPD. (See Section 3)
- 5. **Funding of OPEB**: Explore additional/new efforts to reduce the long-term OPEB liability. (See Section 3)
- 6. **State Budget actions:** Develop improved systems for evaluating and anticipating the effects of state budget actions so that they may be incorporated into the budget. (See Section 3)
- 7. **Unexpected Additional Revenues:** If/when added revenues occur as a result of unexpected occurrences or voter action, dedicate a significant portion of these revenues to increasing long term financial stability. (See Section 3)
- 8. Ongoing Additional Revenues: Continued efforts to develop additional revenue sources. We recommend examining the relationship with the Port of Oakland to determine if significant additional revenues can be obtained. We further recommend that the Council request the Port to retain an independent consultant to review and report upon the legal and fiscal aspects of the port providing additional support to the General Purpose fund. This is discussed in more detail below. (See Section 3)
- 9. **Budget Accessibility:** The new budget format presented some initial challenges but, in the long term, will be a significant improvement in promoting accessibility to Oakland residents.
- 10. Post-COVID Changes in Service Delivery: Evaluate the potential effects of changed service delivery resulting from changed post Covid actions and modify City service delivery as appropriate.
- 11. **Review Budget Calendar:** Review the budget calendar to ensure the consideration of collateral reports such as the Auditor's performance report of June 14, 2021.
- 12. **Reinstitute Public Meetings:** As appropriate and timely reinstitute the public meetings required by the CFP which were held in abeyance due to Covid.
- 13. **Long-Term Debt Consideration:** Clear information and consideration of long-term debt in the process of budget adoption, as previously recommended.
- 14. **Five-Year Forecast Process:** Include BAC in the 5-year budget forecast process, as previously recommended.
- 15. **New Revenue Sources:** We support the Council's positive actions to consider the revenue side of the budget and new funding sources. (See Section 3)

# **The Budget Process**

#### A. Overview:

This portion of the Budget Advisory Commission's report will focus not on the content of the Adopted Policy Budget, but rather on the process of the recently concluded budget cycle, and how effective the process has been to support the goals of addressing the longer-term priorities of the city, to incorporate into the Adopted Policy Budget the community feedback provided during the budget deliberation process, and finally, ensuring accessibility, transparency, outreach, education and community input into the budget process overall.

#### **B. Overall Process:**

In light of unprecedented and evolving changes, and great uncertainty, with regard to the City's financial condition, (due not only to the economic crisis brought on by the COVID pandemic, but also due to evolving crises around homelessness, significant proposed changes in the structure and delivery of public safety services, and lastly, significant financial relief from the federal government), the FY 2021-23 budget process itself seems to have gone relatively smoothly this cycle.

The BAC would like to commend the administration on some of the innovations in budgeting practices undertaken this year.

- 1. **Open Gov:** First, moving the budget information and accessibility to the OpenGov platform has enabled a degree of transparency to Oakland's budgeting process that largely did not exist in prior budget cycles. The ability to access and visualize greater levels of detail to the City's budget has been very helpful.
- Equity Analysis: Second, we support the efforts to look at the budget through an equity lens working with the Department of Race and Equity and leveraging the equity analysis tool.
- 3. **Zero-Based Budgeting:** The BAC supports the practice of zero-based budgeting to ensure that a fresh look is taken at all existing programs to ensure their ongoing usefulness and relevance to support the city's overall priorities.
- 4. **Service Inventory:** The BAC supports the exercise of conducting a service inventory within each department to help clarify which constituent group each department is supporting (whether internal or external) to help ensure alignment between departmental activity and broader policy goals and outcomes.
- 5. Re-Building the OPD Budget: We support the exercise undertaken this year to re-examine in detail the OPD budget. We feel that the effort to adequately address overtime costs, and to systematically examine resource needs and spending trends will provide the necessary transparency to support future conversations around re-examining how public safety services are delivered to the residents and taxpayers of Oakland.

#### C. Community Input to the Budget Process:

The BAC would like to share the following feedback on the budget town hall process, as of midlate May 2021. For context, one or more BAC members attended 6 of the 8 councilmembers' budget town hall meetings, and would like to share the following feedback and observations:

- 1. Accessibility: Given the restrictions of the COVID pandemic, most of these meetings took place virtually via Zoom, Facebook live, and similar channels. One councilmember conducted her meeting outside and in-person at a city park. We observed only one councilmember offering translation services in languages other than English, and would recommend that making translation available (in the more commonly spoken languages across Oakland, e.g. Spanish, Mandarin, Vietnamese, Arabic) be a standard practice wherever possible.
- 2. Structure: Overall, the BAC felt the meetings were well structured, with time for the councilmembers to share their priorities, to explain the budget process, to give an overview of the MPPB, and finally for attendees to provide feedback either via direct questions, or questions submitted via chat channels on the online forums.
- 3. Content: The content offered during the meeting was helpful and accessible to those residents who may not follow the city's budget on a regular basis. We found the PowerPoint visual aids to be helpful in explaining budget process, content, timelines and choices to residents. Most town hall meetings took the time to explain to attendees how to use and navigate the new online tools on OpenGov. We did observe, in a couple of meetings, a tendency toward either campaigning or pushing a particular policy agenda, and would advocate for keeping the discussions as balanced and neutral as possible.
- 4. **Public Meetings**: When appropriate and timely reinstitute the public meetings required by the CFP which were in abeyance due to Covid.
- **D. Councilmember and Constituent Group Clarifications:** The BAC would like to highlight a trend that we have observed in recent cycles, around the number and frequency of questions posed by councilmembers, (and certain constituent groups) and the volume of information in the responses provided by the budget staff. Please see a summary of our observations below.

	Number of City Council QUESTIONS Addressed by Staff			Number of PAGES of Staff Response Document		
BUDGET CYCLE YEARS:	FY 2017-19	FY 2019-21	FY 2021-23	FY 2017-19	FY 2019-21	FY 2021-23
Staff Response #1	33	17	5	17	7	9
Staff Response #2	43	40	16	23	19	11
Staff Response #3	48	7	69	21	6	24
Staff Response #4	1	38	43	1	12	48
Staff Response #5	10	33	60	6	15	78
Staff Response #6	None	10	13	None	5	9
Supplemental Revenue Report	None	0	None	None	13	None
Staff Response #7	None	4	None	None	34	None
TOTAL:	134	149	206	69	111	179

**Sources**: BAC analysis of documentation posted to <a href="https://www.oaklandca.gov/topics/fiscal-year-2021-2023-budget">https://www.oaklandca.gov/topics/fiscal-year-2021-2023-budget</a>, and prior BAC reports to Council.

While we fully support council's ability to ask clarifying questions of staff in order to make fullyinformed decisions around the policy budget, we would welcome the opportunity to engage with councilmembers and with staff to explore possible ways to achieve greater efficiencies in this clarification process, in a way that would place less of a demand on staff time and effort during budget deliberations.

# III. The Adopted Policy Budget.

#### A. Strengthening of Vital Services Stabilization Fund.

The Vital Services Stabilization Fund played an important role in first responding to the economic downturn caused by the Pandemic. We support the effort in this budget to again begin replenishing this Fund in the amount of \$4.83m.

However, it is essential to take action as soon as fiscally prudent to further strengthen the Fund. To accomplish this, we recommend adopting a policy to a multi-year calendar to set aside a greater portion of excess RETT funds and dedicating 25% of any unexpected revenues in excess of \$1m to the account.

#### **B.** One Time Revenues for the Funding of Ongoing Programs

The Proposed Budget makes significant use of one-time revenues to fund ongoing programs. We estimate this to be over \$200m. We recommend that all such actions be clearly identified in the Budget. We further recommend that, at the time of each quarterly financial report, the Council review the financial situation to determine if funding can be transferred to an ongoing financing source and the one-time funds be used to either fund one time programs or to further strengthen the financial stability of the city. We also note that the resolution required as to one time revenues did not appear to have been publicly adopted with the budget.

#### C. Avoiding Assuming County Responsibility Services.

Oakland is faced with structural changes in a number of areas to meet challenges in areas such as Homelessness, Housing, Reimagining Public Safety, Public Health, alcohol and drug services. The County of Alameda has a significant responsibility in many of these areas and significantly greater resources. We recognize the uncertainties around Measure W, but, assuming the validation of this measure, very significant monies would become available for homeless services. Similarly, the MACRO program utilizes mental health services, which in many cases are a primary county responsibility. We recommend that Oakland establish a working relationship with Alameda County at all levels.

#### D. Funding of Police Overtime.

Year after year, OPD spends millions more than its allotted budget on overtime spending. Police overtime is both a tool for budget control and a source of concern. While the Police Department does have an overtime policy in place since December 2020, higher than budgeted overtime is an ongoing issue. Given the expense of permanent staffing levels, overtime can effectively leverage the level force. As Oakland re-tasks the OPD (see Implementing Reimagining Public Safety), we believe that the level of OPD service may be transferred and cost reduced. There may be some offset in overall city expenses as services are moved to other departments. The

goal of this is not only reduced cost but to increase the effectiveness of Oakland's service response. Until Oakland is able to decrease the service demands of the OPD, excess overtime will be a chronic condition. This cannot be cured without the transfer of service demands or an increase in OPD staffing. Simply cutting budgeted OPD overtime will not solve the issue if Oakland continues to request the same or a higher level of services from the OPD.

#### E. Funding of OPEB

We support continued efforts to fund the OPEB deficit to reduce that long-term liability.

#### F: Unexpected Additional Revenues:

If additional revenues become available, they should be dedicated to the Vital Services Stabilization Fund, reduction of the OPEB or other long-term liabilities.

#### G: Consideration of Additional Revenues:

We support the council's action in regard to consideration of a progressive business tax, review of potential revenues from the Port of Oakland (please see additional commentary below), or other potential new revenue sources.

#### H. State Budget actions:

In our prior report of June 2021, we commented "that it is probable that the state budget will contain funding for some of the city programs which are significantly challenged such as housing and homelessness. We recommend that, when possible, such funding be used to bring further stability to various affected city programs. Such a situation did occur resulting in numerous budget amendments that were often confusing to the public." We recommend developing improved systems for evaluating and anticipating the effects of state budget actions so that they may be incorporated into the adopted budget rather than numerous post adoption amendments. This may require revision of the budget calendar, including a possible charter amendment.

#### I. Implementing Reimagining Public Safety:

Due to timing, this budget has not aligned with the recommendations of the Reimagining the Oakland Police Force Task Force (Task Force). Task Force recommendations focused on the management of the OPD overtime budget, the thoughtful transitions from the OPD budget to social and other City services, and the cessation of certain OPD activities.

We anticipate that there will be significant proposals to implement the recommendations to reimagine public safety. We recommend that, when services are proposed to be shifted, it be done either in a zero-sum manner or there be recognition that there will be added transition costs during that time. Understanding and changing the demands on police services is critical managing the OPD budget (overtime and otherwise).

#### J. Long term Liabilities

The proposed budget recognizes long term liabilities of \$2.658 billion. We recommend that every possible action be taken to manage and reduce that liability.

#### K. Port Revenues

We recommend that the Mayor, City Administrator, and the Council review the current City Charter and specifically the provision for the Port of Oakland that stipulates the sources and uses of monies from the Port of Oakland, and request that the Port of Oakland hire a consultant to assist in looking for increasing transfer of revenues to the City of Oakland.

The Port of Oakland, which is established within the City Charter and is in fact an entity governed by the City's Charter and its appointed Port Commissioners, is the 5th busiest container port in the United States, and the Oakland Airport which is entertaining an expansion has grown over time to a busy regional and now international gateway for both business and pleasure travel, and for additional cargo handling. Both the Maritime Port and the Airport are one of the largest job engines within the overall San Francisco Bay Area.

A study funded by the Port to hire a consultant should be taken to see what it would take within the existing Charter, or with Charter Amendments, to increase the availability and consistency of the transfer of revenues from the City of Oakland Port Operations to the City's Budget. This needs to include looking at what restrictions currently exist, but which could be lifted and or changed, and this should be done in a coordinated way with the Port of Oakland in its budget and financial planning.

Recognizing the complexity of these issues, we recommend that the Council request the Port to retain an independent consultant to review and report upon the legal and fiscal aspects of the Port providing additional support to the General Purpose fund.